1970

W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner of Financial Institutions of the State of Utah v. Seagull Investment Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Suit to foreclose mortgage on real property and
counterclaim to quiet title to that property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Judge Harding granted decree of foreclosure of
mortgage and dismissed counterclaim seeking to
quiet title against that mortgage.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Appellant seeks an order quieting
title to the real property as to the mortgage sought

to be foreclosed by Plaintiff, and reversing the judgment of the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The sole issue raised on this appeal is whether Plaintiff's action is *res adjudicata* by reason of two prior dismissals of actions containing the same claim for relief as is the subject matter of this action. The facts concerning dismissal of said actions are as follows:

1. *Oct. 25, 1966* — complaint filed in case #30,293 (R. 62)
2. *Oct. 25, 1967* — case #30,293 dismissed for failure to serve summons within 1 year (Rule 4). (R. 73)
3. *Oct. 30, 1968* — summons issued (case #30,293 typed on summons). (R. 73)
4. *Nov. 5, 1968* — summons issued Oct. 30, 1968, served. (R. 73)
5. *Nov. 15, 1968* — summons served Nov. 5, 1968, dismissed for failure to file complaint within 10 days after service (Rule 3(a)(2)). (R. 73)
6. *Jan. 24, 1969* — Court quashes summons served Nov. 15, 1968, for failure to file complaint within 10 days after service of summons. (R. 73)

7. *Jan. 31, 1969* — Notice of dismissal of case #30,293 filed by Plaintiff under Rule 41(a) (1), URCP. (R. 75)
8. *Jan. 28, 1969* — This lawsuit filed. (R. 4)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS RES ADJUDICATA BECAUSE TWO PRIOR DISMISSALS CONSTITUTE ADJUDICATION OF PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM ON THE MERITS UNDER RULE 41(a) (1), URCP.

Two prior lawsuits have been dismissed which were based upon the same claim for relief as is the subject matter of Plaintiff's claim in this action. It is undisputed that case #30,293 commenced Oct. 25, 1966, was dismissed as a matter of law on Oct. 25, 1967, when one year passed after filing of the complaint without serving a summons, as provided in Rule 3(a) (2), URCP. A notice of dismissal of that lawsuit was also filed on Jan. 31, 1969. (R. 75) If the Court determines that a lawsuit containing the same claim for relief was dismissed a second time then Plaintiff's claim in this case is res adjudicata. (Rule 41(a) (1), URCP; *Thomas v. Braffet's Heirs*, 6 U. 2d 57, 305 P.2d 507; 65 ALR 2d 742. If a second dismissal has not occurred the judgment of foreclosure is proper and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed. Accordingly the sole issue in this case is

whether a second dismissal has in fact occurred.

The second dismissal of a lawsuit containing the same claim as Plaintiff's claim for relief in this case occurred on November 15, 1968, (R. 73) when ten days expired after service of that summons without the filing of a complaint. Since case number 30,293 had been dismissed as a matter of law because no summons had been served within one year after the filing of that complaint that prior action had no effect whatever on the legal effect of the failure of Plaintiff to file a complaint within ten days after that summons was served. The fact that the summons contained the number of the case which had been dismissed by operation of law (#30,293) (R. 75) does not change the legal effect of serving the ten day summons without filing a complaint within ten days thereafter, 11 ALF 2d 1411, 24 Am. Jur. 2d P.61-62. Rule 3(a) (2), URCP, provides that an action may be commenced by the serving of a summons or the filing of a complaint. Failure to file a complaint within ten days after service of summons constitutes a voluntary dismissal of the action that was commenced by the service of the ten day summons, as provided by Rule 3(a), URCP, which reads in part as follows:

"3(a) HOW COMMENCED. A civil action is commenced (1) by filing a complaint with the court, or (2) by the service of a summons. If the action is commenced by the service of a summons, the complaint, together with the summons and proof of service thereof, must

be filed within ten days after such service or the action thus commenced shall be deemed dismissed and the court shall have no further jurisdiction thereof; provided, . . .”

In its order of January 24, 1969, in case number 30,293 (R. 73), the Court expressly held that two dismissals had already occurred. In that order the Court stated in part as follows:

“It appearing to the Court that case number 30,293 was dismissed as a matter of law upon the expiration of one year from the date of filing thereof, summons not having been served within the time required by Rule 4(b), URCP, and *that the action commenced by Plaintiff in accordance with the provisions of Rule 3(a) (2), URCP, by the service of summons on or about the 6th day of November, 1968, was dismissed upon the expiration of 10 days thereafter, Plaintiff having failed to file a complaint with the Court within that time as required by Rule 3(a) (2), URCP, . . .*”
(Emphasis added) (R. 73)

Plaintiff has argued (R. 31-34) that a second dismissal cannot occur within the meaning of rule 41, URCP, unless a second complaint is filed with a new case number being assigned and a new filing fee paid. This argument accepts the facts as recited above concerning the service of the summons on November 5, 1968, the failure to file a complaint within ten days after service of that summons, and simply argues that the resulting dismissal of the action thus commenced

(by serving the 10 day summons on Nov. 5, 1968) was not a dismissal within the meaning of Rule 41, URCP. Plaintiff's argument wholly fails to consider the express provisions of Rule 3(a)(2), URCP, (quoted on page 4 above) specifies that an action may be commenced by service of a summons without the filing of a complaint and without paying a fee to the clerk of the Court, and Rule 3(c), URCP, provides that the Court has jurisdiction from the time of service of summons or the filing of the complaint. Once an action has been commenced and the Court has acquired jurisdiction by either serving a summons or by filing a complaint the dismissal of that action constitutes a dismissal within the meaning of Rule 41, URCP.

This Court affirmed the effect of Rule 41, URCP, and the fact that two dismissals of lawsuits containing the same claim for relief constitutes an adjudication of that claim on the merits and renders that claim *res adjudicata* in the case of *Thomas vs. Braffet's Heirs*, 6 U. 2d 57, 305 P.2d 507 (1956). That case is determinative of the issues in this case and requires that Plaintiff's mortgage foreclosure action be dismissed as *res adjudicata*, and that title to said property be quieted in Defendant as against the claims of Plaintiff.

CONCLUSION

The action commenced Oct. 25, 1966, by filing of a complaint to foreclose the mortgage was dismissed (R. 75). The action commenced November 5, 1968, by serving of a 10 day summons (R. 73) which was dismissed when no complaint was filed (Rule 3(a) (2), URCP). The second dismissal constituted an adjudication on the merits and rendered Plaintiff's claim res adjudicata, and is a complete bar to Plaintiff's action (Rule 41, URCP). Accordingly the judgment of foreclosure awarded by the Court to Plaintiff should be vacated and set aside and title to the real property involved in this law suit should be quieted in the name of the Defendant.

RONALD C. BARKER

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

2870 South State Street

Salt Lake City, Utah 84115