1970

W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner of Financial Institutions of the State of Utah v. Seagull Investment Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action to foreclose a mortgage on real property located in Utah County, State of Utah. The appellant filed a counter claim to quiet title to the property subject to the mortgage.

This is the second action filed to foreclose the mortgage which is the subject of this action. An earlier com-

plaint, civil no. 30,293, was filed in the District Court of Utah County on November 25, 1966. Almost two years passed after civil action 30,293 was filed before a summons was issued. On October 30, 1968, a summons was issued in the first action. The summons was served on November 3, 1968.

The defendants made a motion to quash the service of summons issued October 30, 1968, and served November 3, 1968, in civil no. 30,293 because it was not served within the time limited by Rule 4(b) *U.R.C.P.* The court granted that motion. Subsequently the plaintiff filed a notice of dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1) *U.R.C.P.* in civil no. 30,293.

Plaintiff then commenced this action to foreclose the mortgage. The defendant claims that civil case no. 30,293 was dismissed in such a fashion as to bring this action within the "two dismissal" rule.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The present action was tried at Provo, Utah, before the Hon. Maurice Harding, presiding. Upon the hearing of the matter, the court found in favor of the plaintiff and held that the two dismissal rule under Rule 41(a)(1) *U.R.C.P.* does not apply to this particular case. The court, therefore, ordered that the property be foreclosed and gave judgment to the plaintiff in the amount of \$14,304.41 principal, interest in the amount of \$5,195.68 to July 15, 1969, and attorney's fees and

costs. The defendant's appeal from the lower court's decision requests that an order be issued quieting title to the property as against the plaintiff and reversing the judgment of the trial court .

RELIEF ON APPEAL

Respondent requests that the court affirm the lower court's decision and that the appeal be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

The facts of this case do not lend themselves to the application of the two dismissal rule. According to the general rules of law governing dismissal, an action can be dismissed but one time. The dismissal or nonsuit leaves the action as if the suit had never been filed, and takes with it all prior rulings and orders in the case. 11 A.L.R.2d 1411. Such a dismissal annulled any orders or rulings made in the case so that the action is as if it had never been. In effect, the parties are out of court as to the case dismissed. 24 Am.Jur.2d 6162.

The summons issued on November 30, 1968, was not an initiation of a new action, but was a summons which was served pursuant to the complaint filed on December 25, 1966. The summons was a regular 20 day summons with an attached complaint. This fact is substantiated by the civil number set forth on the summons. The number found there is the same as the one

marked on the complaint filed in November, 1966. Furthermore, no new filing fees have been paid by the plaintiff for the commencement of a new action. There was no intention by the plaintiff to initiate a new action. If the plaintiff had intended to begin a new action with the service of the summons, the summons would have been in the form of a 10 day summons rather than the ordinary 20 day summons.

The plaintiff contends that this matter has been dismissed but once. Furthermore, notice of dismissal, filed by the plaintiff pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1) *U.R.C.P.* did not operate as a second dismissal of the action. That notice pertained to the complaint written and filed in civil no. 30,293 which had already been deemed dismissed by Rule 4 *U.R.C.P.*

Applying the facts of this case to the rules set forth above, plaintiff contends that the dismissal of the action pursuant to the defendant's motion made the suit as if it had not been filed by the plaintiff. Based upon that conclusion, the only way in which a second dismissal could have been entered, thereby bringing the matter within the application of the two dismissal rule, would have been to file a new and separate pleading, paying new filing fees and costs, and filing a new complaint and summons. The record indicates that such an action was not commenced. The above entitled matter could have been dismissed but once.

The case of *Thomas vs. Braffet's Heirs*, 6. U.2d 57, 305 P.2d 507 (1956), is substantiating law to the

plaintiff. In *Thomas*, the court was faced with a two dismissal rule. There the action was to quiet title to a certain piece of property located in Duchesne County, Utah. There were a number of actions filed in that case. The first action was filed on May 22, 1946, and was dismissed upon plaintiff's request. The second action was filed on October 27, 1951, under a new civil number. Plaintiffs again requested that the court dismiss the action and the dismissal was granted. On September 14, 1953, the court entered an order dismissing the action as to those defendants who had not answered. Subsequently one of the defendants intervened and claimed an interest in the property. The argument was made that Rule 41(a)(1) *U.R.C.P.* caused the dismissal to the intervening defendants to be an adjudication on the merits. The court held that under Rule 41(a)(1) such a dismissal did operate as an adjudication on the merits. Each of the prior actions in the *Thomas* case were commenced by the filing of a new complaint, paying new filing fees and obtaining new civil numbers. In this case but one action was commenced prior to this action and it was commenced by the filing of a complaint.

The case now before the court contains no record of two different actions being commenced and subsequently being dismissed. The file indicates filing but one action and subsequently granting a motion of dismissal of that action.

The court's attention is called to an annotation in 65 A.L.R.2d 742, wherein the two dismissal rule is

discussed. Cases cited in that annotation come within the bounds of the rule and make reference to the filing of two suits, e.g., the filing of the second suit or the filing of a third suit. Reference is made to separate and distinct actions being filed. Under the two dismissal rule, the plaintiff is entitled to one dismissal of his suit before a subsequent dismissal will operate against him as an adjudication on the merits. *Crump vs. Goldhouse Restaurants, Inc.*, 96 So.2d 215.

CONCLUSION

At the hearing of the matter on its merits, the defendant failed to apply the facts of this case to substantiate a dismissal under the two dismissal rule. The plaintiff contends that under the facts of this case, there has been but one dismissal. The appeal should be dismissed and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.